

Extension during late Neogene collision in east Indonesia and New Guinea

Robert Hall

SE Asia Research Group, Department of Geology, Royal Holloway University of London, Egham, Surrey TW20 0EX, U.K. *Email: robert.hall@gl.rhul.ac.uk* http://www.gl.rhul.ac.uk/seasia/welcome.html

Keywords: tectonic reconstruction, Indonesia, New Guinea, Neogene



Abstract: Computer animations of a plate tectonic model for the Cenozoic development of the region of SE Asia and the SW Pacific illustrate the importance of extension during collision. In the past 10 Ma plate boundaries have shifted rapidly, and GPS measurements provide a snapshot of the changing tectonic setting. From about 25 Ma the New Guinea passive margin collided with the Philippines-Halmahera-South Caroline Arc, the Australian margin began to collide with the SE Asian margin in Sulawesi, and the Ontong Java Plateau collided with the Melanesian Arc. These collisions caused a major change in the character of plate boundaries between about 25 and 20 Ma. Until about 12 Ma much of the sector between Sulawesi and Fiji was dominated by strike-slip faulting and local subduction but this situation changed at about 12 Ma as old oceanic lithosphere entered the trench west of New Guinea, and new subduction zones developed east of New Guinea. The Banda Sea and Woodlark Basin illustrate the speed of change, the unexpected interplay of convergence and extension, and the importance of subduction as the cause of change. Immediate causes of extension within the orogenic system include strike-slip movements, effects of hinge roll-back, and pull forces of subducting slabs. High resolution dating is required to identify extensional events but the animations portray almost simultaneous contraction and extension which may be characteristic of many orogenic belts.



Table of Contents

| Introduction | 4 |
|--|----|
| Present Tectonics of the North Australian margin | 5 |
| Banda Sea | 5 |
| Halmahera and Sangihe Arcs and Molucca Sea | 5 |
| Eastern New Guinea | 6 |
| Plate tectonic reconstruction and animation | |
| Fragments and colours | 6 |
| Animations of the model | 7 |
| Summary of the history of the last 25 Ma | 8 |
| 25-12 Ма | 8 |
| 12-5 Ма | |
| 5 Ma to present | 9 |
| Key conclusions 1 | |
| Acknowledgements 1 | 11 |
| References 1 | 11 |

Journal of the Virtual Explorer, 2001 Volume 04 Paper 4



http://virtualexplorer.com.au/

Introduction

SE Asia and the SW Pacific include two major continental regions, Sundaland-Eurasia (Figure 1) and Australasia (Figure 2), separated by oceanic plates (Hamilton, 1979; Yan and Kroenke, 1993). The western Pacific is a mosaic of oceanic plates and within the very wide plate boundary zones are numerous small fragments of oceanic, arc and continental character. These include true plates, for example those formed at spreading centres, as well as microplates and tectonic blocks which have been fragmented by collision, subduction-related processes, strike-slip faulting, and extension within the convergent regions. Many authors have looked to this region for examples of processes that may have contributed to development of ancient orogenic belts (e.g. Silver and Smith, 1983; Snyder and Barber, 1997; van Staal et al., 1998),, and those working in the region require a context for the tectonic processes they observe. However, a grasp of the development of this region is extremely difficult to acquire because of the number of plates and smaller tectonic fragments and the speed and complexity of their motions. Animations can help to provide context, explanation and insights into the development of the region. They may in particular help understand the setting of magmatic activity which has in places led to economic mineral deposits but elsewhere has not. In New Guinea the origin of several of the large young centres of mineralisation remains enigmatic (e.g. Richards et al., 1990; MacDonald and Arnold, 1994; Mertig et al., 1997; Meinert et al., 1997; Macpherson and Hall, 1999). Rapid changes in the tectonic configuration of plate boundaries during the Cenozoic may have affected the nature of magmas and the character of fluids moving through the crust.

Figure 1. Region covered in the SE Asia reconstruction



Principal geographical features of the region covered in the SE Asia reconstructions. The blue shaded areas are the continental shelves of Eurasia and Australia drawn at the 200 m isobath and elevated but deeper bathymetric features in the Philippine and Caroline Sea. Red lines are active spreading centres.

Figure 2. Principal geographical features of the region covered in the SW Pacific reconstructions.



The blue shaded areas are the continental shelf of Australia drawn at the 200 m isobath and elevated but deeper bathymetric features in the Pacific. Red lines are active spreading centres.

Click for Larger Image.

Present Tectonics of the North Australian margin

The Virtual

Explorer

The present geometry of subduction around the north Australian margin is very complex and there are numerous slabs with very varied orientations (e.g. Cardwell and Isacks, 1978; Pegler et al., 1995; Spakman and Bijwaard, 1998). There are now about ten years of accumulated GPS observations from this complex region (e.g. Puntodewo et al., 1994; Tregoning et al., 1998; Larson et al., 1999; Rangin et al., 1999a; Kreemer et al., 2000). They show that within the region there are many plate boundaries and plates with very high rates of motion. Seismicity (McCaffrey, 1996), tomography (Spakman and Bijwaard, 1998), palaeomagnetism and the distribution of volcanic activity indicate the existence of numerous microplates, some of which formed rapidly, were destroyed during short time intervals, and in many cases rotated rapidly in similar short time intervals. Spreading rates of these small oceanic microplates are often very high, for example, the Bismarck Sea and the Woodlark Sea opened rapidly in the last few million years. Convergent rates in many areas in the region are amongst the highest on the present-day globe, as at the southern end of the Philippine Trench and at the New Britain Trench. Some ocean basins, such as the Woodlark Basin, are even subducted as they spread. Many of the small oceanic basins and plates have life expectancies of less than 15 Ma. Even volcanic arcs may have disappeared during collision as illustrated by overriding of the Halmahera Arc by the Sangihe Arc in the Molucca Sea.

Banda Sea

In the Banda Sea region (Figure 3) seismicity indicates a complex subduction situation with an Indian Ocean slab dipping north extending to more than 600 km, and a second subducted slab dipping southwest beneath Seram which extends to at least 300 km depth (McCaffrey, 1989). The BirdÕs Head of New Guinea is now broadly moving with the Pacific Plate. There are very high rates of convergence between the BirdÕs Head and Seram by underthrusting at the Seram Trough. The Australia-Asia boundary is a complex region of disconnected fractures in the Banda Sea and there is south-dipping thrusting in the Wetar region (McCaffrey, 1988; McCaffrey et al., 1995). The present Australian-SE Asia Plate boundary appears to be on the north side of the volcanic arc extending from the Flores Sea through to the north of Wetar. The South Banda Basin formed very recently and there is increasing evidence for a Neogene age from interpretation of magnetic anomalies (Hinschberger et al., 1999) and dredging (Honthaas et al., 1998). Heatflow (van Gool et al., 1987) and dredged samples (RŽhault, 1994) also indicate a young age for the North Banda Basin. On the south side of the Banda Sea the Banda volcanic arc collided with the Australian margin in the Pliocene terminating northward subduction in the Timor sector (Audley-Charles, 1986; Harris, 1991). Plate boundaries have clearly changed rapidly in this region in the last few million years.

Figure 3. Banda Sea



Geography and principal tectonic features of the Banda Sea and surrounding regions with volcanoes from the Smithsonian database.

Halmahera and Sangihe Arcs and Molucca Sea

The Philippine Arc terminates southwards in the Molucca Sea collision zone where the opposed Halmahera and Sangihe Arcs are actively converging (Figure 4). The Molucca Sea Plate dips east under Halmahera and west under the Sangihe Arc in an inverted U-shape (McCaffrey et al., 1980). Seismicity indicates approximately 200-300 km of lithosphere subducted beneath Halmahera and the westdipping slab can be identified to a depth of at least 600 km beneath the Sangihe Arc. Tomography suggests possibly greater lengths for the subducted slabs (Spakman and Bijwaard, 1998; Rangin et al., 1999b). North of Halmahera the Philippine Sea Plate is subducting to the west (Cardwell et al., 1980) in a young subduction zone; here too plate boundaries have moved rapidly in the last few million years.



Figure 4. Molucca Sea



Geography and principal tectonic features of the Molucca Sea and surrounding regions with volcanoes from the Smithsonian database.

Eastern New Guinea

Up to five separate plates have been postulated in the region between the Manus Trench and the Pocklington Trough (Figure 5). GPS measurements indicate the existence of the South Bismarck, Woodlark and Solomon Sea Plates (Tregoning et al., 1998), and the Manus Trench and Trobriand Trough may mark former plate boundaries. Active and very rapid northward subduction of the Solomon Sea is occurring beneath the South Bismarck Plate to form the New Britain Arc. West of the Solomon Sea seismicity suggests an over-ridden double subduction zone similar to that of the Molucca Sea beneath New Guinea (Cooper and Taylor, 1987; Pegler et al., 1995). At the northern end of the New Britain Arc a complex pattern of strike-slip faults link the Bismarck Sea spreading centre to the Pacific Plate boundary. Both the Woodlark Basin and Bismarck Sea are actively spreading oceans. Once again, a notable feature of the Bismarck-Woodlark region is the rapid changes in tectonic boundaries during the last 5-6 Ma.

Figure 5. Bismarck Sea and Woodlark Basin



Geography and principal tectonic features of the Bismarck Sea and Woodlark Basin and surrounding regions with volcanoes from the Smithsonian database.

Plate tectonic reconstruction and animation

The model discussed here was initially developed for SE Asia (Hall, 1996, 1997a), extended to include the SW Pacific (Hall, 1997b, 1998) and is being continually updated to include new data. A complete account of the most recent plate tectonic model accompanied by animations is in press (Hall, 2001) in which there is an extensive bibliography. The reconstructions were made using the AT-LAS computer program (Cambridge Paleomap Services, 1993). The model now includes approximately 120 fragments in SE Asia and the SW Pacific. It has been animated using 1 Ma time-slices.

Fragments and colours

Present coastlines are used in the reconstructions and most fragments retain their current size so that they remain recognisable. In some regions, such as extended continental margins and volcanic arcs, changes in area and volume of crust are likely to be significant. During collision, contraction may have also changed dimensions of fragments. The model simulates such changes an approximate way by modelling deforming areas as multiple fragments, allowing overlap of fragments, and represented some in a stylistic manner to convey the processes inferred. The colour scheme indicates the nature of the crust and principal regional features (Figure 6). One aspect of the use of colour

The Virtual Explorer

needs to be emphasised. Dark blue is the default background colour. Reconstructing backwards from the present creates space, for example, by undoing the effects of subduction ÔunsubductedÕ crust is coloured dark blue. However, most fragments do not change size or shape and gaps may open up between fragments which are coloured dark blue but may not represent ocean crust. In some cases gaps have been filled by allowing fragments to overlap, but it is important to be cautious in inferring the nature of the crust between fragments merely on the basis of the colour used in the reconstructions.

Figure 6. Key to principal colours and symbols



Key to principal colours and symbols used on Figures 7 to 10 and the animations.

Animations of the model

The reconstructions are produced using the PC-based ATLAS (formerly at http://www.atlas.co.uk/cpsl/) palaeogeographic mapping program which draws each map with the appropriate projection. Producing the final animation has a number of further steps. The maps are generated as Postscript files to which most plate boundaries are added by hand in CorelDraw. VisualBasic programs in Corel-Draw are used to generate rapidly the multiple images required for an animation. For this paper, bitmaps were used to produce QuickTime Movies and animated gifs. Bitmap movies are relatively small files, and can be very quickly advanced and reversed, but are limited to fixed display resolutions. Other animations, such as Powerpoint, are larger and slower but have the advantage that a vector format can be used for individual images which are then independent of display resolution and can be copied and pasted into publications without loss of quality. The filenames here indicate the resolution and type of the animation (e.g swp_xvga.mov). They have a number of screen resolutions: VGA (640x480), SVGA (800x600) and XVGA (1024x768) indicated by a suffix. Quicktime movies have the file extension .mov. and animated gifs have the extension .gif.

Figure 1. Computer animation XVGA (1024x768)



The studied area matches the last frame of the computer animation found at Figure 3. See text for explanation.

Figure 2. Computer animation VGA (640x480)



The reconstructions are produced using the PC-based ATLAS (formerly at http://www.atlas.co.uk/cpsl/) palaeogeographic mapping program which draws each map with the appropriate projection. The studied area matches the last frame of the computer animation found at Figure 3. See text for explanation.

Summary of the history of the last 25 Ma

The Virtual Explorer

Important plate motion changes occurred in SE Asia and the West Pacific at about 45 Ma, 25 Ma and 5 Ma. Of these the 25 Ma reorganisation is the most important and the animation begins at that time. Before then Australia had been moving north in an apparently simple way, with north-dipping subduction beneath SE Asia and the Philippine-Halmahera-Caroline arcs. East of Australia there was subduction of the Pacific plate, broadly to the west and SW, associated with slab rollback and considerable backarc extension forming the Solomon Sea and Fiji basins. Viewing of the animation should accompany the following brief summary of the development of the north Australian margin between east Indonesia and the Pacific since 25 Ma.

25-12 Ma

Australia and SE Asia made contact at about 25 Ma (Figure 7). Collision-related deformation in Sulawesi dates from the late Oligocene-early Miocene. Sub-ophiolite metamorphic rocks indicate late Oligocene intra-oceanic thrusting and early Miocene subduction (Hall and Wilson, 2000). Ophiolites were clearly obducted in SE Sulawesi during the early Miocene and unconformable contacts indicate emergence. There was collision between the Philippines-Halmahera-South Caroline Arc with the New Guinea margin at about 25 Ma (Dow, 1977; Jaques and Robinson, 1977; Pigram and Davies, 1987; Hill and Raza, 1999) which required a change in plate boundaries at the southern edge of the Philippine Sea Plate (Hall et al., 1995). Northward subduction of the oceanic crust ceased and a major left-lateral strike-slip boundary developed through northern New Guinea. From this time arc terranes were translated westwards along the margin within the strike-slip system and fragments of continental crust were sliced from the BirdÕs Head and moved west to collide in Sulawesi. The Ontong Java Plateau also collided with the Melanesian Arc after 25 Ma (Petterson et al., 1997, 1999). The reconstructions show the final contact at about 18 Ma but the full extent of the Ontong Java Plateau before termination of subduction is not known. The term Ôsoft collisionÕ has been used to describe shortening of the leading edge of the Ontong Java Plateau and thrusting of part of the plateau into the Solomon Islands which took place before 18 Ma. From 25 Ma the arcs extending from Melanesia to the Philippines became effectively coupled to the Pacific Plate. The arc terranes moved in a clockwise direction and the Philippine Sea and Caroline Sea Plates rotated around the western Pacific at the margin of what is effectively a great Pacific Plate as suggested by some of the mobilist pioneers (Carey, 1958; Holmes, 1965).





The East Philippines-Halmahera-South Caroline Arc collided with the Australian Plate at the north New Guinea margin and the Ontong Java Plateau began to collide with the Melanesian Arc. On Figures 7 to 10 the filled white circles, triangles and squares are isotopic ages of igneous rocks from our database which includes Indonesia, New Guinea and the Philippines. Magenta crosses are isotopic ages from metamorphic rocks. Horizontal grid lines are the equator and 30_iS, and vertical grid lines are 120_iE, 150_iE and 180_iE.

From 25 Ma until about 12 Ma much of the sector between Sulawesi and Fiji was dominated by strike-slip faulting and local subduction. Although Australia was moving northwards, the clockwise rotation of the Philippine Sea and Caroline Sea Plates to the north meant that the boundary remained essentially zone of strike-slip. Because of the position of the rotation poles the strike-slip boundary was moving north at the same rate as Australia. Localised transpression and transtension in this zone are likely but cannot yet be reconstructed because of our inadequate knowledge of the regional geology. Very small changes in positions of Euler poles, non-rigid behaviour of fragments, and other sources of errors could allow even more complexity than already in the model which is likely to be an over-simplification.





12-5 Ma

This situation changed dramatically at about 12 Ma (Figure 8). West of New Guinea Jurassic ocean crust reached the Sunda trench and began to subduct. The great age of the ocean crust north of the NW Shelf compared to that subducting further west (mainly Cenozoic with some Cretaceous crust) caused the Sunda trench to propagate rapidly east as the Jurassic slab fell away into the mantle. The subduction hinge retreated rapidly as the slab rolled back, and the rollback induced major extension in the upper SE Asian plate. Extension had begun by 10 Ma, and led to melting (Linthout et al., 1996, 1997) which I interpret as a response to rapid decompression, extension-related metamorphism, initial arc volcanism contaminated by continental crust (Honthaas et al., 1999), arc splitting and finally backarc basin spreading forming the South Banda Sea from about 6 Ma.

The Virtual Explorer

Figure 8. Reconstruction at 12 Ma.



Jurassic ocean crust arrived at the trench south of Sulawesi. Eastward subduction of the Molucca Sea had begun. The New Guinea terranes moved in a wide leftlateral strike-slip zone. Subduction of the Solomon Sea was underway beneath eastern New Guinea margin to form the Maramuni Arc. To the east of New Guinea subduction began on the east side of the Solomon Sea to initiate the New Hebrides Arc.

To the east of New Guinea a new subduction zone developed on the east side of the Solomon Sea beneath the New Hebrides. It is not clear why this subduction zone developed in the opposite direction to the already subducting Pacific slab. Another important east-dipping subduction zone developed at about the same time, beneath Halmahera, when west-directed subduction of the Molucca Sea (part of the Philippine Sea Plate) was already established. It may be that the westward motion of the Philippine Sea and Caroline Sea Plates to the north of Australia were impeded by collision in the strike-slip zone in New Guinea, or at its western end in the Sulawesi-Banda region, or by initiation of subduction of the Jurassic Banda Sea. Whatever the cause, east-dipping subduction began at the New Hebrides Trench, and there was extension in the North Fiji region as the Solomon Sea slab rolled back with rotation of the New Hebrides arc (Musgrave and Firth, 1999). By 10 Ma the older southwest-directed subduction of the Solomon Sea at the Marumuni arc in eastern New Guinea was linked by a transform fault crossing the Solomon Sea to the new east-dipping subduction which produced the New Hebrides Arc. The Solomon Sea was then rapidly reduced in size by subduction on both its east and west sides. Development of the New Hebrides Arc led to a complex pattern of oceanic spreading in the North Fiji Basin (Auzende et al., 1995). There were ridge jumps, rotation of the Fiji Islands, and later rifting at the northern end of the Kermadec-Tonga Arc.

Within a short period the New Hebrides Trench propagated north to initiate subduction beneath the Solomons and the New Britain Arc. Subduction ceased along its southern edge leaving the Trobriand Trough as a relict trench. Subduction was now primarily at the northern side of the Solomon Sea beneath the New Britain Arc which was converging on the eastern New Guinea margin. This left the inverted U-shaped slab in the mantle beneath eastern New Guinea. The changing balance of forces on the Solomons Sea Plate caused spreading to initiate at or close to the former transform fault leading to spreading in the Woodlark Basin. The Woodlark rifting propagated rapidly west (Benes et al., 1994; Taylor et al., 1995; 1999) along the centre of the former arc, ripping open the Papuan peninsula and forming core complexes in advance of the propagating tip (Baldwin et al., 1993).

5 Ma to present

There was another regional change in plate motions at about 5 Ma (Figure 9) although the cause is obscure. South of the Bird's Head the rapid hinge retreat continued and there was movement of the trench towards the Australian margin which maintained the extension of the Banda Sea region. The active volcanic arc was split as the South Banda Sea began spreading as a backarc basin. At about 3 Ma the volcanic arc came into collision with the Australian margin in the region of Timor. Spreading ceased in the South Banda Sea and the volcanic arc became coupled to the Australian margin in the Outer Banda Arc region around Timor. After collision, new plate boundaries developed north of the arc in the Flores-Wetar Sea and to the north of the South Banda Sea.

The Virtual

Explorer

Figure 9. Reconstruction at 5 Ma.



The arrival of Jurassic ocean crust at Sunda-Java trench caused rapid hinge rollback in eastern Indonesia, resulting in young volcanism in the Inner Banda Arc, and oceanic spreading in the Banda Sea. Bismarck Sea opening began. Slab pull forces caused spreading in the Woodlark Basin. Hinge retreat at the New Hebrides Trench was accompanied by the rotation of Fiji.

In north New Guinea the arc terranes were close to their present-day (Figure 10) positions, requiring little but rotation and minor translation (e.g. Abbott, 1995; Weiler and Coe, 2000) within a transpressional left-lateral fault zone. The limited and poorly-defined subduction at the New Guinea Trench and Manus Trench probably dates only from this time. At present much of the convergence between the Pacific and Australia is absorbed by distributed deformation over a very wide zone. The regions close to the BirdÕs Head are among the most complex and are still relatively poorly understood. The very limited knowledge of the Cenderawasih region, east of the BirdÕs Head, suggests another episode of rapid extension (Dow et al., 1985). Part of Cenderawasih Bay may have opened by ocean spreading at this stage and there is a suggestion from very young metamorphic ages in the area of the BirdÕs Neck (Bladon, 1988) of core complex formation during the last 5 Ma.

To the east of New Guinea slab-pull by the subducting Solomon Sea slab was the cause of Woodlark Basin spreading. Ironically, this subduction, which produced the Woodlark spreading, is also subducting the Woodlark Basin, and may lead to its complete elimination. It may well be difficult to infer the existence of the Woodlark Basin in another 5 Ma. To the north the Manus plume (Macpherson et al., 2000) arrived at approximately its present-day position within the New Guinea sinistral fault system at around 5 Ma (Macpherson and Hall, 2001) and the conjunction of plume and strike-slip faulting may have promoted rapid spreading in the Bismarck Sea which began at about 5 Ma (Taylor, 1979) in a setting which resembles a large pullapart.

Figure 10. Present tectonic configuration.



Arc-continent collision in the Timor region has caused subduction reversal north of Timor and between Seram and the BirdÕs Head. East of New Guinea the Woodlark Basin spreading centre propagates west but the basin is being subducted at its eastern edge at a similar rate.

Key conclusions

The regions around New Guinea illustrate the importance of extension in a convergent setting. In all areas the ultimate driving force is subduction although local mechanisms may be different in different places. The Woodlark Basin has opened due to slab-pull forces caused by subduction beneath New Britain, and is being subducted beneath the Solomons almost as fast as it is forming. In the Banda Sea extension of the upper plate, induced by rollback of an old slab, has proceeded from caused continental rifting to arc-continent collision. In both regions this has occurred within a period of about ten million years. There is tenuous evidence of extension during the same period in

other areas of New Guinea region which may indicate that extension and convergence are typical of the whole orogenic system. The sequence of events varies from place to place but may include rapid extension with core complex formation, arc magmatism, arc splitting, ocean crust formation and subduction reversal. Subduction can eliminate very young ocean crust and there may be large and rapid local rotations.

The Virtual

Explorer

Some of the extension may be related to strike-slip movements within the New Guinea margin. In this situation there may have been even more rapid and frequent changes from extension to contraction, related to fault geometry and plate boundary conditions which are very sensitive to small movements in rotation pole positions. These in turn are likely to be a response to changing plate boundary conditions, in particular, changing slab lengths at subduction zones. The speeds of all these processes are very high and at present it is difficult to predict where and when extensional events could occur. The lesson from the Indonesia-New Guinea collision zone is that extension may be typical of collisional orogenesis, that the speed of processes means that high precision dating is required to recognise such events, and that extension and contraction may be effectively simultaneous.

Acknowledgements

Financial support has been provided by NERC, the Royal Society, the London University Central Research Fund, and the London University and Royal Holloway SE Asia Research Groups supported by a number of industrial companies.



References

- Abbott, L.D., 1995. Neogene tectonic reconstruction of the Adelbert-Finisterre-New Britain collision, northern Papua New Guinea. Journal of Southeast Asian Earth Sciences 11, 33-51.
- Audley-Charles, M.G., 1986. Timor-Tanimbar Trough: the foreland basin to the evolving Banda orogen. In: Allen, P.A., Homewood, P. (Eds.), Foreland Basins. International Association of Sedimentologists, Special Publication 8, 91-102.
- Auzende, J.M., Pelletier, B., Eissen, J.P., 1995. The North Fiji basin: geology, structure and geodynamic evolution. In: Taylor, B. (Ed.), Backarc Basins: Tectonics and Magmatism. Plenum, New York, 139-175.
- Baldwin, S.L., Lister, G.S., Hill, E.J., Foster, D.A., McDougall, I., 1993. Thermochronologic constraints on the tectonic evolution of active metamorphic core complexes, D'Entrecasteaux Islands, Papua New Guinea. Tectonics 12, 611-628.
- Benes, V., Scott, S.D., Binns, R.A., 1994. Tectonics of rift propagation into a continental margin: western Woodlark Basin, Papua New Guinea. Journal of Geophysical Research 99, 4439-4455.
- Bladon, G.M., 1988. Catalogue, appraisal and significance of K/ Ar isotopic ages for igneous and metamorphic rocks in Irian Jaya. Preliminary Report, Geological Research and Development Centre, Bandung.
- Cambridge Paleomap Services, 1993. ATLAS version 3.3. Cambridge Paleomap Services, P.O. Box 246, Cambridge, U.K.
- Cardwell, R.K., Isacks, B.L., 1978. Geometry of the subducted lithosphere beneath the Banda Sea in eastern Indonesia from seismicity and fault plane solutions. Journal of Geophysical Research 83, 2825-2838.
- Cardwell, R.K., Isacks, B.L., Karig, D.E., 1980. The spatial distribution of earthquakes, focal mechanism solutions and subducted lithosphere in the Philippines and northeast Indonesian islands. In: Hayes, D.E. (Ed.), The Tectonic and Geologic Evolution of Southeast Asian Seas and Islands. American Geophysical Union, Geophysical Monograph Series 23, 1-35.
- Carey, S.W., 1958. A tectonic approach to continental drift. Symposium on Continental Drift Proceedings, Hobart, 177-355.
- Cooper, P., Taylor, B., 1987. Seismotectonics of New Guinea; a model for arc reversal following arc continent collision. Tectonics 6, 53-67.
- Dow, D.B., 1977. A geological synthesis of Papua New Guinea. BMR Australia, Geology and Geophysics Bulletin 201, 41pp.
- Dow, D.B., Robinson, G.P., Ratman, N., 1985. New hypothesis for formation of Lengguru Foldbelt, Irian Jaya, Indonesia. American Association of Petroleum Geologists Bulletin 69, 203-214.

- Hall, R., 1996. Reconstructing Cenozoic SE Asia. In: Hall, R., Blundell, D.J. (Eds.), Tectonic Evolution of SE Asia. Geological Society of London Special Publication 106, 153-184.
- Hall, R., 1997a. Cenozoic plate tectonic reconstructions of SE Asia. In: Fraser, A.J., Matthews, S.J., Murphy, R.W. (Eds.), Petroleum Geology of Southeast Asia. Geological Society of London Special Publication 126, 11-23.
- Hall, R., 1997b. Cenozoic tectonics of SE Asia and Australasia.
 In: Howes, J.V.C., Noble, R.A. (Eds.), Proceedings of the International Conference on Petroleum Systems of SE Asia and Australia. Indonesian Petroleum Association, 47-62.
- Hall, R., 1998. The plate tectonics of Cenozoic SE Asia and the distribution of land and sea. In Hall, R., Holloway, J. D. (Eds.), Biogeography and Geological Evolution of SE Asia. Backhuys Publishers, Leiden, The Netherlands, 99-131.
- Hall, R. 2001. Cenozoic geological and plate tectonic evolution of SE Asia and the SW Pacific: computer-based reconstructions and animations. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences, in press.
- Hall, R., Wilson, M.E.J., 2000. Neogene sutures in eastern Indonesia. Journal of Asian Earth Sciences 18, 787-814.
- Hall, R., Ali, J.R., Anderson, C.D., Baker, S.J., 1995. Origin and motion history of the Philippine Sea Plate. Tectonophysics 251, 229-250.
- Hamilton, W., 1979. Tectonics of the Indonesian region. USGS Professional Paper 1078, 345 pp.
- Harris, R.A., 1991. Temporal distribution of strain in the active Banda orogen: a reconciliation of rival hypotheses. Journal of Southeast Asian Earth Sciences 6, 373-386.
- Hill, K.C., Raza, A., 1999. Arc-continent collision in Papua Guinea: Constraints from fission track thermochronology. Tectonics 18, 950-966.
- Hinschberger, F., Malod, J.-A., Dyment, J., Honthaas, C., Rehault, J.P., Burhanuddin, S., 1999. A late Neogene backarc origin for the South Banda basin: constraints from magnetic lineations. 4th France-Taiwan Symposium Abstracts: Active subduction and Collision in SE Asia. Memoires Geosciences Montpellier 14, 163-165.
- Holmes, A., 1965. Physical Geology. Thomas Nelson, London, 1288 pp. Honthaas, C., Rehault, J.P., Maury, R.C., Bellon, H., Hemond, C., Malod, J.A., Cornee, J.J., Villeneuve, M., Cotten, J., Burhanuddin, S., Guillou, H., Arnaud, N., 1998. A Neogene back-arc origin for the Banda Sea basins: geochemical and geochronological constraints from the Banda ridges (East Indonesia). Tectonophysics 298, 297-317.
- Honthaas, C., Maury, R.C., Priadi, B., Bellon, H., Cotten, J., 1999. The Plio-Quaternary Ambon arc, eastern Indonesia. Tectonophysics 301, 261-281.

Jaques, A.L., Robinson, G.P., 1977. The continent/island-arc collision in northern Papua New Guinea. BMR Journal of Australian Geology and Geophysics 2, 289-303.

The Virtual

Explorer

Kreemer, C., Holt, W.E., Goes, S., Govers, R., 2000. Active deformation in eastern Indonesia and the Philippines from GPS and seismicity data. Journal of Geophysical Research 105, 663-680.

Larson, K.M., Burgmann, R., Bilham, R., Freymueller, J.T., 1999. Kinematics of the India-Eurasia collision zone from GPS measurements. Journal of Geophysical Research 104, 1077-1093.

Linthout, K., Helmers, H., Sopaheluwakan, J., 1997. Late Miocene obduction and microplate migration around the southern Banda Sea and the closure of the Indonesian Seaway. Tectonophysics 281, 17-30.

Linthout, K., Helmers, H., Wijbrans, J.R., van Wees, J.D.A.M., 1996. 40Ar/39Ar constraints on obduction of the Seram Ultramafic Complex: consequences for the evolution of the southern Banda Sea. In: Hall, R., Blundell, D.J. (Eds.), Tectonic Evolution of SE Asia. Geological Society of London Special Publication 106, 455-464.

Macdonald, G. D. and Arnold, L. C. 1994. Geological and Geochemical Zoning of the Grasberg Igneous Complex, Irian-Jaya, Indonesia. Journal of Geochemical Exploration 50, 143-178.

Macpherson, C.G., Hilton, D.R., Mattey, D.P., Sinton, J.M., 2000. Evidence for an O18-depleted mantle plume from contrasting O18/O16 ratios of back-arc lavas from the Manus Basin and Mariana Trough. Earth and Planetary Science Letters 176, 171-183.

Macpherson, C.G., Hall, R., 1999. Tectonic controls of geochemical evolution in arc magmatism of SE Asia. PACRIM '99 Congress, Australian Institute of Mining and Metallurgy 4/99, 359-368.

McCaffrey, R., 1988. Active tectonics of the eastern Sunda and Banda Arcs. Journal of Geophysical Research 93, 15163-15182.

McCaffrey, R., 1989. Seismological constraints and speculations on Banda Arc tectonics. Netherlands Journal of Sea Research 24, 141-152.

McCaffrey, R., 1996. Slip partitioning at convergent plate boundaries of SE Asia. In: Hall, R., Blundell, D.J. (Eds.), Tectonic Evolution of SE Asia, Geological Society of London Special Publication. 106, 3-18.

McCaffrey, R., Silver, E.A., Raitt, R.W., 1980. Crustal structure of the Molucca Sea collision zone, Indonesia. In: Hayes, D.E. (Ed.), The Tectonic and Geologic Evolution of Southeast Asian Seas and Islands. American Geophysical Union, Geophysical Monograph Series 23, 161-178.

McCaffrey, R., Molnar, P., Roecker, S., Joyodiwiryo, Y., 1985. Microearthquake seismicity and fault plane solutions related to arc-continent collision in the eastern Sunda Arc, Indonesia. Journal of Geophysical Research 90, 4511-4528. Mertig, H. J., Rubin, J. N. and Kyle, J. R. 1994. Skarn Cu-Au Orebodies of the Gunung-Bijih (Ertsberg) District, Irian-Jaya, Indonesia. Journal of Geochemical Exploration 50, 179-202.

Meinert, L. D., Hefton, K. K., Mayes, D. and Tasiran, I. 1997. Geology, zonation, and fluid evolution of the big Gossan Cu-Au skarn deposit, Ertsberg district: Irian Jaya. Economic Geology and the Bulletin of the Society of Economic Geologists 92, 509-534.

Musgrave, R.J., Firth, J.V., 1999. Magnitude and timing of New Hebrides Arc rotation: Paleomagnetic evidence from Nendo, Solomon Islands. Journal of Geophysical Research 104, 2841-2853.

Pegler, G., Das, S., Woodhouse, J.H., 1995. A seismological study of the eastern New Guinea and the western Solomon Sea regions and its tectonic implications. Geophysical Journal International 122, 961-981.

Petterson, M.G., Babbs, T., Neal, C.R., Mahoney, J.J., Saunders, A.D., Duncan, R.A., Tolia, D., Magu, R., Qopoto, C., Mahoa, H., Natogga, D., 1999. Geological-tectonic framework of Solomon Islands, SW Pacific: crustal accretion and growth within an intra-oceanic setting. Tectonophysics 301, 35-60.

Petterson, M.G., Neal, C.R., Mahoney, J.J., Kroenke, L.W., Saunders, A.D., Babbs, T.L., Duncan, R.A., Tolia, D., McGrail, B., 1997. Structure and deformation of north and central Malaita, Solomon Islands: tectonic implications for the Ontong Java Plateau Solomon arc collision, and for the fate of oceanic plateaus. Tectonophysics 283, 1-33.

Pigram, C.J., Davies, H.L., 1987. Terranes and the accretion history of the New Guinea orogen. BMR Journal of Australian Geology and Geophysics 10, 193-212.

Puntodewo, S.S.O., McCaffrey, R., Calais, E., Bock, Y., Rais, J., Subarya, C., Poewariardi, R., Stevens, C., Genrich, J., Fauzi, C., Zwick, P., Wdowinski, S., 1994. GPS measurements of crustal deformation within the Pacific-Australia plate boundary zone in Irian Jaya, Indonesia. Tectonophysics 237, 141-153.

Rangin, C., Le Pichon, X., Mazzotti, S., Pubellier, M., Chamot-Rooke, N., Aurelio, M., Walpersdorf, A., Quebral, R., 1999a.
Plate convergence measured by GPS across the Sundaland/ Philippine Sea plate deformed boundary: the Philippines and eastern Indonesia. Geophysical Journal International 139, 296-316.

Rangin, C., Spakman, W., Pubellier, M., Bijwaard, H., 1999b. Tomographic and geological constraints on subduction along the eastern Sundaland continental margin (South-East Asia). Bulletin de la SociŽtŽ gŽologique de France 170, 775-788.

RŽhault, J.P., Maury, R.C., Bellon, H., Sarmili, L., Burhanuddin, S., Joron, J.L., Cotten, J., Malod, J.A., 1994. The North Banda Sea (East Indonesia) - an Upper Miocene back-arc basin. Comptes Rendus de l'Academie des Sciences, Paris 318, 969-976.



Richards, J. P., Chappell, B. W. and McCulloch, M. T. 1990. Intraplate type magmatism in a continent island arc collision zone; Porgera intrusive complex, Papua New Guinea. Geology, 18 (10), 958-961.

The Virtual Explorer

- Silver, E.A., Smith, R.B., 1983. Comparison of terrane accretion in modern Southeast Asia and the Mesozoic North American Cordillera. Geology 11, 198-202.
- Snyder, D.B., Barber, A.J., 1997. Australia-Banda arc collision as an analogue for early stages in lapetus closure. Journal of the Geological Society of London 154, 589-592.
- Spakman, W., Bijwaard, H., 1998. Mantle structure and largescale dynamics of South-East Asia. In: Wilson, P., Michel, G.W. (Eds.), The Geodynamics of S and SE Asia (GEODYSSEA) Project. GeoForschingsZentrum, Potsdam, Germany, 313-339.
- Taylor, B., 1979. Bismarck Sea: evolution of a back-arc basin. Geology 7, 171-174.
- Taylor, B., Goodliffe, A., Martinez, F., Hey, R., 1995. Continental rifting and initial seafloor spreading in the Woodlark Basin. Nature 374, 534-537.
- Taylor, B., Goodliffe, A.M., Martinez, F., 1999. How continents break up: Insights from Papua New Guinea. Journal of Geophysical Research 104, 7497-7512.

- Tregoning, P., Lambeck, K., Stolz, A., Morgan, P., McClusky, S.C., van der Beek, P., McQueen, H., Jackson, R.J., Little, R.P., Laing, A., Murphy, B., 1998. Estimation of current plate motions in Papua New Guinea from Global Positioning System observations. Journal of Geophysical Research 103, 12181-12203.
- van Gool, M., Owen, T.R., Huson, W.J., Prawirasasra, R., 1987. Heat flow and seismic observations in the northwestern Banda arc. Journal of Geophysical Research 92, 2581-2586.
- van Staal, C.R., Dewey, J.F., Mac Niocaill, M., McKerrow, W.S., 1998. The Cambrian-Silurian tectonic evolution of the northern Appalachians and British Caledonides: history of a complex, west and southwest Pacific-type segment of lapetus. In: Blundell, D.J., Scott, A.C. (Eds.), Lyell: the past is the key to the present, Geological Society of London Special Publication 143, 199-242. Weiler, P.D., Coe, R.S., 2000.
- Rotations in the actively colliding Finisterre Arc Terrane: paleomagnetic constraints on Plio-Pleistocene evolution of the South Bismarck microplate, northeastern Papua New Guinea. Tectonophysics 316, 297-325.
- Yan, C.Y., Kroenke, L.W., 1993. A plate tectonic reconstruction of the SW Pacific 0-100 Ma. In: Berger, T., Kroenke, L.W., Mayer, L. et al., Proceedings of the Ocean Drilling Program, Scientific Results 130, 697-709.